Public Document Pack



Neuadd Cyngor Ceredigion, Penmorfa, Aberaeron, Ceredigion SA46 0PA ceredigion.gov.uk

30 March 2023

Lisa Evans

01545574177

Dear Sir / Madam

I write to inform you that a Meeting of the Thriving Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be held HYBRID - NEUADD CYNGOR CEREDIGION, PENMORFA, ABERAERON / REMOTELY VIA VIDEO CONFERRENCE on Wednesday, 5 April 2023 at 10.00 am for the transaction of the following business:

- 1. Apologies
- 2. Disclosures of personal interest (including whipping declarations)
 Members are reminded of their personal responsibility to declare any
 personal and prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained in
 this agenda in accordance with the provisions of the Local
 Government Act 2000, the Council's Constitution and the Members
 Code of Conduct. In addition, Members must declare any prohibited
 party whip which the Member has been given in relation to the
 meeting as per the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011.
- 3. Active travel update April 2023 and use of former railway lines for cycling / walking (Pages 3 10)
- 4. Ceredigion Bus Network (Pages 11 30)
- 5. To confirm the Minutes of the previous Meeting and to consider any matters arising from those Minutes (Pages 31 36)
- 6. To consider the Overview and Scrutiny Forward Work Programme (Pages 37 40)

Members are reminded to sign the Attendance Register

A Translation Services will be provided at this meeting and those present are welcome to speak in Welsh or English at the meeting.

Yours faithfully

Gledwards

Miss Lowri Edwards

Corporate Lead Officer: Democratic Services

To: Chairman and Members of Thriving Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The remaining Members of the Council for information only.

Agenda Item 3

Cyngor Sir CEREDIGION County Council

REPORT TO: Thriving Communities Overview & Scrutiny Committee

DATE: 27/07/2022

LOCATION: Hybrid

TITLE: • Active travel update April 2023

• Use of former railway lines for cycling / walking

PURPOSE OF REPORT: Update, developments since the previous report/ discussion

REASON SCRUTINY HAVE

As above

REQUESTED THE INFORMATION:

BACKGROUND:

The Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013 places a duty on local authorities to plan for, improve, and promote routes for walking and cycling for everyday journeys.

Welsh Government Active Travel Guidance (published July 2021) is available to view at: https://www.gov.wales/active-travel-act-guidance

Officers attended the meeting held on 1st November 2021 meeting to advise the Thriving Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee of the arrangements for the preparation of Active Travel Network Maps (ATNMs). An opportunity as also provided to inform the Committee of the increasing Local Highway Authority network of Active Travel routes and infrastructure to the Highways Asset Management Plan (HAMP), which they advised is likely to have additional resource implications for ongoing maintenance

Following extensive public engagement, Ceredigion County Council developed and following Cabinet approval (1st February 2022), submitted its draft Active Travel Network Maps (ATNMs) to the Welsh Government on 31 March 2022. The Minister for Climate Change approved the ATNM for Ceredigion on 3 August 2022 and the maps can now be viewed at: https://datamap.gov.wales/maps/active-travel-network-maps/ This Datamap Wales site is hosted by the Welsh Government.

The Ceredigion County Council Active Travel Network Maps (ATNMs) include proposed Future Routes Maps which demonstrate ambitions for more safe walking and cycling in Ceredigion. These proposed schemes fit into either shorter, medium or longer term plans (up to 15 years). All proposed schemes require funding for scheme development and construction will be subject to the availability of funding and deliverability (such as the availability and cost of land).

Two of these Future Routes include proposed new or upgrade of existing routes along the track-beds of dismantled railway in Ceredigion:

At the 7th December 2022 meeting of the Thriving Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee and under Item 4 – Development Management, officers provided information including:

- Ystwyth Trail (Aberystwyth to Tregaron) not all of the route is located on the dismantled railway track-bed due to complicated land-ownership issues and various attempts to fund upgrades and new sections have been pursued with scheme development ongoing. Planning permission exists for the Cors Caron to Tregaron section (A190729, approval date 26.09.2019). The Ceredigion ATNM Future Routes Map extends all the way to Tregaron:
 - CER-FR-AB-641 from Rhydyfelin to Llanilar
 - o CER-FR-AB-641B from Llanilar to Tregaron
- Llanerchaeron Trail (Aberaeron to Lampeter) various abortive attempts including a Cynnal y Cardi project to fund the extension of the route to Ciliau Aeron but route is now included in the Ceredigion ATNM Future Route Maps which may now enable it to attract Welsh Government grant funding in future years:
 - o CER-FR-LA-317 from Aberaeron to Felinfach
 - o CER-FR-LA-317B from Felinfach to Lampeter
- Lampeter to Llangybi –potential route reference CER-FR-LA-316 now included in the Ceredigion ATNM Future Route Maps which may now enable it to attract Welsh Government grant funding in future years. However, the section of former railway track between Llangybi and Tregaron was not included on the ATNM Future Route Maps.
- There are only three Welsh Government-designated Active Travel Settlements in Ceredigion under the Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013– Aberystwyth, Cardigan and Lampeter. Whilst there has been some relaxation recently, it remains the case that Welsh Government local transport capital grant (primarily Active Travel Fund) is still largely restricted to funding of schemes in these three towns, leaving out much of the rest of the County.
- There remains a focus within Welsh Government/ Transport for Wales Active Travel
 Fund on every day 'utility' journeys (to work, school, access day-to-day services etc.)
 rather than for leisure and recreation and where investment will generate higher levels
 of modal shift to walking and cycling.
- Albeit focused in or around the three WG-designated towns, the recently approved
 Active Travel Future Routes Maps make reference to aspirations to improving the
 Ystwyth Trail to Tregaron former railway track bed for walking, cycling and equestrian
 use as well as the former Lampeter to Aberaeron branch line (via Felinfach)

- Funding was previously secured for the 'Cardi Bach' walking and cycling route between Cardigan and Cilgerran. There remain significant sections of the former Aberystwyth to Carmarthen railway line route for which proposals have yet to be developed, e.g., from Tregaron to Lampeter and to the County boundary.
- As Local Planning Authorities, Dyfed County Council and more recently Ceredigion County Council, appear not to have chosen to preserve former railway track beds for future sustainable travel use though relevant UDP and LDP policies and over a number of years permitted commercial and residential development on them. Consequently, following the disposal of land by the former British Railways Board and its successors, most sections of former railway track beds in Ceredigion are now owned by multiple land owners with developments on some sections – including Ystrad Aeron and Felinfach. Alternative off-line routes will need to be found and consideration of using Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) powers may be required to acquire land for walking and cycling routes.
- There are inevitably a number of natural and man-made obstacles to overcome along some sections of route including road and river crossings, erosion due to regular flooding and structures requiring acquisition and restoration, such as the Tyn-y-Graig tunnel on the Aberystwyth to Carmarthen railway line.
- Whilst not necessarily mutually exclusive when identifying potential active travel routes, consideration should be given to the fact that Ceredigion County Council - and many town and community councils along the former railway line – have previously resolved to support the re-instatement of the Aberystwyth to Carmarthen railway line for passenger services.

Important to note,

Grant risks,

- Capacity to deliver.
- Land acquisition recommend CPO process, acquisition by negotiation is considered to be ineffective.
- Lack of or uncertainty with appropriate funding streams from WG and/or Westminster.

CURRENT SITUATION:

Much of the previous information provided to this Committee (see above) remains 'current' and valid. However, following on from last Committee meeting in December 2022, the following updates are worthy of consideration:

- Welsh Government/ Transport for Wales Active Travel Fund (ATF) Core Grant funding of £0.5 Million has been utilised in FY2022/23 mainly for scheme design to enable future funding applications to be made for route construction or upgrades see Appendix 1 Table 1. Whilst there have been no schemes along dismantled railway lines, there has been joint working with the Welsh Government and its North and Mid Wales Trunk Road Agent (NMWTRA) to identify safer pedestrian and cyclist crossing opportunities over the A487 at Llanfarian which forms part of the Ystwyth Trail (Aberystwyth to Tregaron).
- The County Council submitted an ambitious but unsuccessful application for *Cylch y Cardi* Trail Phase 1 Levelling Up Fund 2 (LUF2) (Transport) to utilise and upgrade sections of the Ystwyth Trail (along Aberystwyth to Tregaron dismantled railway track-bed) and acquisition and construction of a shared use path along a section of the former Lampeter to Aberaeron branch line (Llanerchaeron to Felinfach). The application sought £16,854,495.12 as LUF2 grant funding towards a total project cost of £18,727,216.80 with £1.8 million of matchfunding to be provided by the County Council. This was intended to complete some of the missing sections of the existing largely on-carriageway Sustrans promoted National Cycle Network (NCN) routes 81 (Lôn Teifi),82 (Lôn Cambria) and 822 (Aberaeron to Llanerchaeron) in Ceredigion see: https://explore.osmaps.com/?lat=52.119619&lon=-layer&style=Standard&type=2d&placesCategory=
- Despite the decision by the UK Government not to support the application, there may still be opportunities to deliver improvements in phases over a longer time-frame should funding become available.
- The County Council has been allocated £0.5 Million ATF Core Grant in FY2023/24 to fund scheme development and minor works and has also applied for ATF grant funding for construction of the first phase of the proposed IBERS (Aberystwyth University's Plas Gogerddan Campus) to Waun Fawr active travel path (£1.49 Million). The County Council currently awaits the outcome of this application. See Appendix 1 Table 2.
- County Councilor Keith Henson, Cabinet Member for Highways and Environmental Services and Carbon Management supported by Highways and Environmental Services officers met with Lee Waters MS, Deputy Minister for Climate Change at Aberystwyth University on 1st December 2022 to provide an overview of Active Travel in Ceredigion and to discuss some of the specific challenges around delivery and meeting high levels of expectations in a deeper rural area of Wales such as Ceredigion.

Further information on Active Travel schemes delivered by Ceredigion County Council is available as follows:

- Under sections 7 (3) and 10 (2) of the Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013, the County Council is required to publish annual Active Travel Reports. For the period FY2014/15 to FY2021/22 these can be viewed at: http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/resident/travel-roads-parking/active-travel/
- As a condition of Welsh Government grant funding, the County Council must also prepare and submit to the Welsh Government annual monitoring reports for a period of three years post-scheme delivery.

Has an Integrated Impact Assessment been completed? YES

WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS:

Yes. This is covered by the IAA prepared for CPMP

Long term:

- Complies well with the Wellbeing of Future Generation Act
- Complies well with Active Travel Act
- Complies well with Climate Change Act
- Complies well with Environment Act
- Helps to deliver Llwybr Newydd the Wales National Transport Strategy – One Wales Connecting the nations
- Helps to deliver the Climate Change Strategy for Wales
- Healthier Wales Objective
- Will assist in in meeting Net Zero Carbon targets through transferring journeys form private car to walking and cycling
- Reduce traffic congestion through encouraging modal change (more Active Travel journeys, particularly shorter distance.
- Improve road safety for the most vulnerable road user groups, particularly children and younger people, pedestrians and cyclists of all ages and abilities, less confident of all ages. Sections of route will meet modern design and accessibility standards with reference to the latest Welsh Government's Active Travel Design Guide. Help to provide opportunities within the visitor economy and wider economic generation sector within communities served route by the enhancements

Integration:

Positive - Reduce traffic congestion through encouraging modal change (more Active Travel journeys, particularly shorter distance and help to reduce carbon emissions across Ceredigion.

Collaboration: Positive - links to opportunities to work in collaboration with colleagues to improve sections of public Rights of Way, to achieve de-carbonisation of the transport/ travel sector, potential to promote new economic and community activities and contribute to the Well-being goals identified above

Involvement:

Positive - There will be opportunities to work with Sustrans as part of its Paths for Everyone approach to provide a traffic-free, more consistent, and accessible Network for everyone.

The objective is to construct a traffic free facility that engages with local communities during its development and maximises opportunities to promote local services and opportunities to Ceredigion residents and

visitors.

Prevention:

Positive - Improve road safety for the most vulnerable road user groups, particularly children and younger people, pedestrians and cyclists of all ages and abilities, less

confident of all ages.

RECOMMENDATION (S):

Update only

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION (S):

Update only

Contact Name: Phil Jones

Designation: Corporate Manager – Highways Services

Date of Report: 05/04/2023

Acronyms:

Appendix 1 – Summary of Active Travel Grant Funding 2021/22 to 2022/23

ATF CORE ALLOCATION SCHEMES FY2022/23		
SCHEME	GRANT ALLOCATION	
Plascrug Footbridge Study	£120,000	
Waunfawr to IBERS AT Link	£179,977.00	
St Dogmaels Road Footway	£17,000.00	
Ystwyth Trail Crossings over TRA487 and connectivity improvements	£35,000.00	
Heol y Bont Shared Use Path	£23,000.00	
National Library of Wales path upgrade	£25,000.00	
Rheidol Trail enhancement feasibility (Heol y Bont to Glanyrafon)	£9,000.00	
Waunfawr Road	£16,828.00	
Gwbert Road	£9,950.00	
Monitoring and Evaluation	£14,245.00	
School cycle shelters	£20,000.00	
Cardigan Minor Works	£30,000.00	
ATF TOTAL	£500,000	

Table 1. List of schemes funded from Active Travel Fund in <u>FY2022/23</u>

:

PROPOSED ATF CORE ALLOCATION SCHEMES FY2023/24		
PROPOSED SCHEME	FUNDING APPLICATION	
Waunfawr to IBERS AT Link - Phase 1 - construction	£1,490,000.00	
Waunfawr to IBERS AT Link - scheme development	£100,000.00	
Plascrug Footbridge Study	£133,000.00	
Ystwyth Trail Connectivity Improvements	£24,000.00	
Rheidol Trail Enhancements	£19,000.00	
Park Avenue Footway Enhancements	£53,000.00	
St Dogmaels Road Minor Footway	£15,000.00	
Ystwyth Trail TRA487 Crossing Trefechan and Gerddi Rheidol Link	£101,000.00	
National Library of Wales Path Upgrade	£12,000.00	
Cardigan Mesh Density Study	£43,000.00	
ATF TOTAL	£1,990,000.00	

Table 2. List of schemes included in grant applications for <u>FY2023/24</u>

Agenda Item 4

Cyngor Sir CEREDIGION County Council

REPORT TO: Thriving Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee

DATE: 5 April 2023

LOCATION: Hybrid - Neuadd Cyngor Ceredigion, Penmorfa, Aberaeron

/ remotely via video conference

TITLE: Ceredigion Bus Network

PURPOSE OF REPORT: Update Committee Members on matters relating to the bus

network in Ceredigion

REASON SCRUTINY HAVE REQUESTED THE INFORMATION:

1.0 Background

It is widely recognised that the transport industry is experiencing a particularly turbulent and challenging time, with the following factors being particularly relevant and are over and above other general inflationary factors affecting the local bus, learner bus, taxi and community transport operators:

- a lack of qualified and experienced Public Service Vehicle (PSV) bus drivers
- capacity issues limiting the training and examination of new drivers
- increased and volatile operating costs which include in respect of fuel
- changes to funding and support mechanisms
- reduction in patronage, exacerbated by COVID-19
- uncertainty about future travel patterns, usage and fare box income
- changes in respect of governmental roles, interventions and responsibilities
- disruption to supply chains affecting fuels, delivery of vehicles and parts
- review of business models clarifying actual operational costs and income

2.0 Legal Context

The most directly relevant duties placed on Local Authorities in terms of public transport services are in relation to Section 63 of the Transport Act 1985, with the addition of further duties in relation to the provision of learner transport.

Further information on these duties, together with information regarding bus operator's obligations to the Traffic Commissioner are provided in **Appendix 1**.

3.0 Local Bus Networks

The bus industry was de-regulated in 1985, seeking improve efficiency and motivate companies to provide an attractive offering to the public. Where services were not deemed to be commercially viable then Local Authorities could go to market through procurement processes to secure a level of travel opportunities which it deemed appropriate.

The bus network is made up of two types of service, commercial and supported, and **Appendix 2** provides the background to local bus networks in the context of commercial and supported local bus services and the profile of these in Ceredigion.

4.0 Ceredigion Context

In terms of local bus service operations, large sparsely populated rural areas like Ceredigion have never been good bus *territory*. Factors influencing this include, but are not limited to:

- lack of sufficient numbers wanting to travel at the same time
- lack of sufficient numbers wanting to travel on the same routes
- lack of sufficient numbers wanting to travel between the same locations
- distances travelled
- high car ownership and preference
- lack of competition in the local market
- operators leaving the industry
- local operators having less resilience than larger commercial operators
- withdrawal of national / larger operators from the local market
- impact of COVID-19 and changes to travel behaviours

This is culminating in significant and unaffordable increases in costs, which exceeds current allocated budgets associated with providing supported services.

Since de-regulation, a significant and tapering upwards amount of public money has been required to maintain services as the gap between what is generated in income from fares and the costs of providing the services has increased massively.

Ceredigion County Council's exposure to this national issue and the related risks have been mitigated in this respect as:

- the network it is responsible (pays) for has contracted significantly over the last decade
- services provided on the main routes form part of Welsh Government's TrawsCymru services
- the Bwcabus / Fflecsi network forms part of a partnership arrangement with Pembrokeshire and Carmarthenshire County Councils with support from external funding sources
- the Cardi Bach service is funded by the Welsh Government
- there are a small number of 'commercial' services

The current bus network in Ceredigion reflects historical routing, travel patterns and deemed demand as well as timetabling/frequency often determined by what is operationally deliverable with the available resources.

Some settlements are provided with a relatively high/good level or service and some with none at all.

Some travel opportunities will also be provided based on logistical influencers rather than by design or demand (e.g. where operators are based / where contracted services start and finish).

While bus networks and services are subject to change, usually in respect of timetables and frequency, the termination of services brings with it a different level of challenge, scrutiny and sensitivity.

Efficiencies have been achieved through having an integrated network of learner and public services, often provided by the same vehicles, with resources for peak time learner services providing the resource for the local bus services during the off-peak. This has meant statutory learner transport requirements are met while offering a level of service to the wider public that would otherwise not exist.

5.0 Financing

Currently local bus services are financially underpinned by a number of income streams which include:

- 1. Fare Box
- 2. Payment for the carriage of eligible learners
- 3. Mandatory Concessionary Travel Scheme reimbursement payments
- 4. Bus Services Support Grant Live Kilometre (BSSG) payments
- 5. Subsidy payments for tendered contracts
- 6. Bus Emergency Scheme (BES) payments

The profile and value of the above will vary, potentially considerably, between operators and routes. There are some 'commercial' services which do not receive Subsidy payments for tendered contracts but may attract all others.

The complexity of how services are financed is therefore a difficult matter to analyse in an objective, meaningful and useful way as the profile of the income streams can vary considerably.

Appendix 3 provides a breakdown of how the local bus network in Ceredigion is maintained financially which demonstrates the complexity underpinning this. This also demonstrates that the levels of public funding supporting and underpinning this in Ceredigion is already significant.

6.0 Bus Patronage and Value for Money

Due to COVID there is little relevant recent bus patronage data available that would usefully inform decision making, neither is there a simple way to evaluate either value or value for money in respect of the level of subsidy required due to the complex way services attract various income streams as set out and demonstrated in Section 5 above.

Operators have their own, individual concessionary fare reimbursement rate, based on their depot average fare with a modifying factor then being applied, and as such the individual operator's reimbursement rate can vary considerably which will then influence the prices they will be able to offer to operate routes which includes when competing for tendered services.

This is particularly relevant when around 50% of passengers are concessionary pass holders.

Historically a metrics has been used to calculate the subsidy per passenger journey whereby the total amount of subsidy is divided by the total number of passengers. However, this has become considerably less relevant as a measure as the number of income streams and supporting interventions have increased which are more difficult to fairly and equitably profile, attribute and include in the calculation.

7.0 Recent Procurement Processes

Spring / Summer 2022

During Spring 2022 two of the main providers of learner transport services gave notice of termination on a total of 12 contracts which had a combined value of over £374,000 per annum, on the basis that they were no longer deemed by the Operator to be viable to operate.

Following a review of requirements, a procurement exercise was undertaken for the 12 learner transport bus contracts, which resulted in an overall annual increase on current rates by over 75%.

In addition, the operator of the combined public transport and learner transport services associated with the 585 (Aberystwyth-Tregaron-Lampeter) service also served notice of termination.

A negotiated increase in the daily rate was agreed with the operator in order to maintain both the statutory learner and public transport elements until December 2022 to allow a procurement process to be undertaken with new arrangements in place for January 2023 which resulted in a 61.5% increase in costs.

A procurement exercise was also undertaken in relation to 39 learner transport taxi contracts, with the overall annual increase on current rates (£614,801) varying between 43% and 68% depending on the length of contract on offer.

The number of tenders received for the each of the 39 contracts varied between 2 and 6.

While the increases in costs were significant, they are in line with or similar what is happening elsewhere nationally in the sector.

Autumn 2022

A number of local bus service contracts, some of which included statutory learner journeys, were taken to market in the Autumn of 2022 due to some coming to the end of their contract periods and others due to companies issuing notice of their intention to terminate.

The reasons cited included the contracts no longer being commercially viable and challenges affecting the wider transport industry including a severe lack of qualified Public Service Vehicle (PSV) drivers.

The new contracts were due to commence operationally on the 3 of January 2023.

Further information on the process is provided in **Appendix 4**, but in summary:

- no tenders were received for the various options taken to market, other than the learner elements, on the 585 Aberystwyth-Llanilar-Tregaron-Llanddewi Brefi-Lampeter service
- only single tenders were received for 7 of the 8 contracts taken to market
- tenders to meet the statutory learner transport requirements was received for most routes although these are subject to considerable increases.
- costs for the tendered services increased from £499,430 to £848,295 per annum, for an overall reduced level of service

The press release available via the following links were published to advise stakeholders on the situation on the 02/12/2022 <u>Ceredigion County Council</u> and as an update the following press release <u>Ceredigion County Council</u> was issued on the 18/11/2022.

It is important to understand the significant increases in costs associated with providing learner transport services in the context that there is a legal obligation on local authorities to provide these for eligible learners.

8.0 Wider Context

It is understood that the current arrangements/payments for the Bus Emergency Scheme (BES), which is currently in its third/fourth (?) iteration and has been used to support the industry through the reduction in patronage over and since the COVID period, is to end in March 2023 and that this would consequently influence and impact on the network's viability.

It is understood that Welsh Government are currently reviewing the position in respect of ongoing funding for 2023/24 however, if funding is forthcoming, it has been advised that this will be significantly lower that the funding levels which have been made available to date.

There is therefore growing concern both nationally and locally that a significant reduction in

funding which has been channelled through the BES process will have a significant impact on the bus network as a whole.

Work is also ongoing with other stakeholders regarding the future of the Fflecsi Bwcabus as the current arrangements are due to end in June 2023.

The factors contributing to the volatility, issues and considerations include:

- the scale of the increased costs in operating services
- decreasing/uncertain future patronage figures
- uncertainty around future WG intervention and funding levels
- it's impossible to evaluate or compare value / worth / value for money between the routes and/or how then to prioritise
- the nature of the network and the inequality that already exists
- the future of current 'commercial' services
- the support or contribution required for subsidised services will also increase dramatically, both for a like for like or reduced level of service
- the spiralling costs associated with statutory learner transport
- the increasing divergence between strategic aspiration and what is operationally deliverable and affordable

9.0 Options

Due to the volatility and significant increase in costs associated and required to support local bus services consideration will have to be given to how the allocated budget is utilised with a view of optimising this.

Historically, where services are not commercially viable, where local authorities deem it appropriate, they have looked to commission local bus services through procurement processes.

These have tended to be prescriptive processes whereby operators are invited to compete for work on the basis of prescribed service needs in terms of timetables (frequency and days of operation) and vehicle specification.

Recent procurement processes show that the tenders being received are unaffordable in relation to the current budget allocation.

With this in mind the following provide some options in moving forward:

- 1. Allow current local bus service contracts to lapse and not re-tender these, with the current budget to be reallocated to help mitigate some of budget pressures resulting from the increased costs of learner transport contracts as well as maintaining some level of travel opportunity on some of these for the general public.
- 2. Re-tender integrated services on 2+2-year and 5+2-year options as follows:

- a.for a like for like service level
- b.learner transport services as stand-alone contracts
- c.seek proposals from operators for a level of public service they can offer for a fixed amount with minimum services levels identified to meet statutory learner transport elements within the current budget

Historically the approach would have been to proceed with option 2(a), however, taking into account the state of the market, the statutory learner transport requirements and the significant increase in costs, 2(b) and 2(c) provide some further options for consideration.

The overall intention being to retain the best level of travel opportunities possible in the short term within the budget available.

Another option is for fares to increase to mitigate the differential between income and costs.

However, the scale of the increases in costs means that the requisite increase in fares would be substantial and beyond what fare paying passengers would potentially tolerate and which would likely result in a further decline in passenger numbers, impacting on any potential income derived from fare increases. It would also result in a potentially significant increase in the Concessionary reimbursement rates paid for these journeys.

Many of the complexities and uncertainties relating to how local bus services in Wales are provided is due to, or compounded by, the structures and funding mechanism's the Welsh Government have put in place. Until they have resolved these, it is deemed appropriate to seek the additional financial support required from the Welsh Government to, at least, maintain the current network and travel opportunities available.

10.0 Risks

There are numerous and various risks arising in respect of a deteriorating local bus network with reduced opportunities to travel relating to *Financial, Legal, Reputational, Economic* and *Social* risks and these have been summarised in **Appendix 5**.

11.0 Conclusion

Not only are there significant financial risks but first and foremost there are risks regarding the Council's ability to meet it statutory obligations in terms of learner transport provision and supporting those who may have little or no means of private transport to access local centres for day-to-day purposes including work, shopping, health, leisure and social activities.

There are also risks affecting the viability and sustainability of Ceredigion's transport operators as, in the context of bus service providers especially, the future is very unclear in terms of support mechanisms and structures underpinning the industry in Wales.

Recent procurement exercises are the latest and most significant manifestation of market

failure in the local transport industry.

The situation is by no means unique to Ceredigion but there are specific localised issues arising which mean that a number of settlements and villages who have in recent times been afforded a bus service, as regularly as hourly during the day Mon-Sat, have, since January 2023, had no bus service at all or a reduced level of service.

On the basis of the above it can only be concluded that a further rationalisation of opportunities to travel by bus within Ceredigion is highly likely in the short term.

There are unfortunately, extremely limited short-term options and solutions that are readily available, never-mind, affordable, and the nature of the contributing factors also mean that the local authority's ability to directly influence is severely limited.

Has an Integrated Impact No

Assessment been completed? If, This report is presented to **not, please state why** raise awareness of the

current position and proposed way forward.

WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS:

Summary:
Long term:
Integration:
Collaboration:
Involvement:

Prevention:

RECOMMENDATION (S): To note

- 1. The acute and numerous pressures and challenges the transport industry as whole is experiencing which is exacerbated locally.
- 2. The subsequent pressure arising on the Council and the Service in seeking to manage the situation, which includes stakeholder expectations and the timelines associated with decisions and actions being implemented.
- 3. The action taken by the Service to manage the situation and reduce what will still be a significant in-year over-spend in 2022/23.
- 4. The approach being adopted with a view of delivering services within the budget allocation.

REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION (S):

Contact Name: Gerwyn Jones

Designation: Corporate Manager Environmental Services

Date of Report: 15 March 2023

Acronyms:

Appendix 1 - Legal Context

Local Buses

The most directly relevant duty placed on local authorities in terms of public transport services are deemed to be as follows:

Transport Act 1985:

<u>Section 63 of TA 1985</u> places a duty on local authorities to secure the provision of such public transport services as they consider appropriate to meet any public transport requirements which would not otherwise be met. This includes the power to enter into an agreement providing for service subsidies where the service in question would not be provided, or would not be provided to a particular standard, without subsidy.
 <u>Bus and coach services | Law Wales (gov.wales)</u>

This is particularly vague. Essentially, the duty is that Local Authority's provide what they consider to be appropriate rather than setting this out prescriptively and / or the basis for this.

Learner Transport

The most directly relevant duty placed on local authorities in terms of learner transport provision is as follows:

Legal Duties of the Local Authority

Local authorities must:

- Check the travel needs of learners.
- Give transport to young learners who live 2 miles or more from the nearest suitable school.
- Give Transport to older learners who live 3 miles or more from the nearest suitable school.
- Look after the needs of children who live in care.
- Raise awareness of Welsh speaking schools.
- Raise awareness of sustainable travel. Sustainable means, environmentally friendly ways in which to travel. Like walking or cycling or taking the bus.

The Learner Travel Operational Guidance (gov.wales)

Traffic Commissioner

Formal applications should be submitted to the Traffic Commissioner by the operator of any local bus services regarding any changes to those services with an at least 56-day period of notice applying. This can include with respect of services coming to an end, new services starting or any changes to a service

timetable (routes, frequency etc.). The intention being that the travelling public are given some notice prior to the changes being implemented.

Appendix 2 - Local Bus Networks

The bus industry was de-regulated in 1985. The idea behind de-regulation was that competition would improve efficiency and motivate companies to provide an attractive offering or product to the public. Where services were not deemed to be commercially viable then Local Authorities could go to market through procurement processes to secure a level of travel opportunities which it deemed appropriate. So, the bus network is made up of two types of service:

Commercial services

These are provided and operated by the bus companies who determine the level and type of service that they are able to operate on a commercial basis. Whilst being Commercial, these services are in receipt of other support including but not limited to Bus Services Support Grant (BSSG) live kilometre payments and Concessionary Fares reimbursement.

The commercial services in Ceredigion currently are:

- X28 Aberystwyth-Machynlleth
- 301/304 Aberystwyth Services
- 512 Aberystwyth-Borth-Ynyslas Turn

There are also some other ad-hoc commercial positioning journeys.

Supported Services

These are provided and operated by the bus companies on behalf of a local authority, or other commissioning body, whereby they receive a contract subsidy in addition to other support payments for providing the service. The contracts awarded for this work can be on a full cost (gross cost) basis where the commissioning body retains the income from the fare box, or minimum subsidy (net cost), whereby the operator retains the income. The most prevalent model being minimum subsidy and this has been the basis for services provided by Ceredigion County Council.

The supported services currently operating in Ceredigion are shown below along with who pays for these:

- T21 Aberystwyth-Tregaron (Ceredigion County Council)
- 525 Aberystwyth-Ponterwyd (Ceredigion County Council)
- 526 Aberystwyth-Penrhyncoch (Ceredigion County Council)
- 585 Aberystwyth-Tregaron-Lampeter (Ceredigion County Council)
- 588 Aberystwyth-Tregaron-Lampeter (Ceredigion County Council)

- There are also a number of Learner Service contracts which are also registered as public bus services which provide some journey opportunities for non-eligible learners and members of the public.
- Bwcabus/Fflecsi (Welsh Government, Carmarthenshire, Ceredigion and Pembrokeshire County Councils)
- 408 Cardgian Town (Pembrokeshire and Ceredigion County Council)
- 460 Cardigan-Carmarthen (Carmarthenshire and Ceredigion County Councils)
- T1 Aberystwyth-Carmarthen (Welsh Government)
- T1C Aberystwyth-Cardiff (Welsh Government)
- T2 Aberystwyth-Bangor (Welsh Government)
- T5 Aberystwyth-Cardigan (Welsh Government)
- 552 Cardi Bach (Welsh Government)
- X47 Aberystwyth-Llandrindod Wells (Powys County Council)

This has inevitably led to a situation whereby no single body or agency has overall control, responsibility and/or co-ordination for the network as a whole.

There is little general understanding of how services are provided and funded, or therefore, who is responsible for what.

Ceredigion County Council's direct ability to influence the services provided is limited to those that it directly pays for and it has no sphere of influence or control on the commercial services as all aspects of these services are determined by the operators who provide them.

Appendix 3 - Financing

Currently local bus services are financially underpinned by a number of income streams which include:

- Fare Box
- Payment for the carriage of eligible learners
- Subsidy payments for tendered contracts
- Bus Services Support Grant Live Kilometre payments
- Mandatory Concessionary Travel Scheme reimbursement payments
- Bus Emergency Scheme (BES) payments

The profile and value of the above will vary, potentially considerably, between operators and routes. There are some 'commercial' services which do not receive Subsidy payments for tendered contracts but may attract all others. The complexity of how services are financed is therefore a difficult matter to analyse in an objective, meaningful and useful way as the profile of the income streams can vary considerably.

Subsidy payments for tendered contracts - the budgeted allocation to support local bus services in Ceredigion for 2022/23 is £647k. This comprises of £394k from the Welsh Government's Bus Services Support Grant and £253k directly from CCC.

Bus Services Support Grant Live Kilometre Payments - the amount shown in the below table reflects the Bus services Support Grant funding payments related to the live kilometres travelled on registered public services in Ceredigion and includes payments to commercial and subsidised services. These amounts are funded by the Welsh Government.

Mandatory Concessionary Travel Scheme - the reimbursement rate per passenger for operators in Ceredigion varies between £1.42 and £3.26. This set amount is paid for every single journey undertaken by a concessionary pass holder <u>irrespective of the length of the journey</u>.

The total amount reimbursed to operators in Ceredigion in 2021/22 was £737k, with the payments for 2021/22 being based on the number of historic 2019/20 pre pandemic concessionary journeys.

Bus Emergency Scheme (BES) Payments - the total amount of BES payments made to operators in Ceredigion during 2020/21 was £421k. This was paid for by the Welsh Government.

Funding for 2021/22 and 2022/23 is currently still subject to reconciliation but indicatively payments could be in the region of £1,600k per annum are currently

projected. This significant increase relates to a change in the BES scheme parameters.

Fare Box - operators retain any income from fare paying passengers.

Financial Summary

	Source	2018/19	2019/20	2020/21	2021/22	2022/23
	Total	658	658	658	626	751
Subsidy	CCC budget	282	284	284	252	253
payments for tendered contracts	CCC budget pressure	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	104 (260 full year equivalent)
	WG	376	374	374	374	394
Bus Services Support Grant Live Kilometre payment	WG	347	346	358	366	366
Mandatory	Total	694	690	714	737	667
Concessionary Travel	ccc	92*	90*	89*	81*	90*
Scheme reimbursement payments to Operators	WG	602	600	625	656	577
Bus					1,819	2,260
Emergency Scheme (BES) payments	WG		n/a	421	(projected)	(projected)
Total payments to Operators	All (including BES projections)	1,699	1,694	2,151	3,548	4,044
Total split	ccc	374	374	373	333	447 603 (full year equivalent)
Total split	WG (including BES projections)	1,325	1,320	1,778	3,215	3,597

^{*} Additional net costs to CCC over and above these amounts paid to Operators for administration and Country Cars element: 2018/19 - 6k, 2019/20 - 8k, 2020/21 - 9k, 2021/22 - 17k and 2022/23 - 8k (total scheme costs to CCC each year 153k but this cost is in part offset by 55k grant funding from WG for administrating concessionary pass issuing).

The above do not include contract payments in respect of the TrawsCymru services.

Appendix 4 - Procurement

Historically when procurement exercises are undertaken for local bus and / or learner transport services the Council would be fortunate to receive 3 or 4 tenders for local bus service operation.

The local market has therefore never been particularly buoyant or competitive and in this context, it is always difficult to measure or evaluate value for money. It is also difficult to get a breakdown in relation of costs/income attributed to the various transport service elements which often in practical terms are one and the same in terms of resource and service delivery.

The situation has worsened recently, partly no doubt in response to the challenges being experienced, whereby no or only one tender has been received for operating the local bus services, and therefore a point has now been reached whereby it is not how much a service might cost to provide, but a position whereby no one is interested / willing to undertake the work.

Recent Procurement Processes

As stated in the main report, during the **Spring 2022** two of the main providers of learner transport services gave notice of termination on a total of 12 contracts which had a combined value of over £374,000 per annum, on the basis that they were no longer deemed to be viable to operate.

This is in the context that CCC do not pay an annual inflationary increase on their transport contracts and that the contracts in question were in the sixth year of a 5+2-year contract with the extensions having been agreed during 2021.

Following a review of requirements, a procurement exercise was undertaken for the 12 learner transport bus contracts, and the overall annual increase on current rates (£374,185) varied between; £297,843 (79.59%) with the 2+2-year option; and £287,045 (76.71%) with the 5+2-year option. The number of tenders for each of the 12 contracts varied between 1 and 5 (includes combinations).

In addition to this the operator of the 585 (Aberystwyth-Tregaron-Lampeter) service also served notice of termination. As the arrangements underpinning the 585 local bus service and related learner transport services are complex, a negotiated increase in the daily rate was agreed with the operator in order to maintain both the statutory learner and public transport elements until December 2022 which resulted in a 61.5% increase in costs.

A procurement exercise was also undertaken in relation to 39 learner transport taxi contracts, with the overall annual increase on current rates (£614,801) varying between; £268,096 (43.6%) with the 2+2 year option; and £418,896 (68%) with the 5+2 year option.

On the basis of the outcome of the tender process the learner bus contracts have been let on a 2+2-year basis and the taxi contracts on a 2+2-year basis. The main reasons and rationale for this being to retain statutory learner transport services in the short term while allowing a review in the wider context and longer term.

If the above is indicative of what will happen when, if they are not surrendered earlier, any other learner taxi contracts, due to expire in 2023/4, are retendered then the increase in costs can is anticipated to be at a similar rate i.e. 30% uplift.

A number of local bus service contracts, some of which included statutory learner journeys, were also taken to market in **Autumn 2022**. This was due to some coming to the end of their contract periods and others due to 'throw-backs' whereby companies had issued notice of their intention to terminate.

The reasons cited included the contracts no longer being commercially viable and challenges affecting the wider transport industry including a severe lack of qualified Public Service Vehicle (PSV) drivers.

The new contracts were due to commence operationally on the 3 of January 2023 with the headline summary from the process being:

- No tenders were received for the various options taken to market, other than the learner elements, on the 585 service. This would have resulted in a significant reduction or removal of any travel opportunities at all by bus on parts of the route between Aberystwyth-Llanilar-Tregaron-Llanddewi Brefi-Lampeter. Working with the current operator through a negotiated procedure a costed proposal was subsequently received.
- Only one tender was received for all but one of the eight contracts taken to market.
- A tender to meet the statutory learner transport requirements was received for most routes although these are subject to considerable increases.
- Through negotiated procedures arrangements have been made to retain a rationalised level of service on the 525 and 526 services.
- Overall, for this bundle of services, further to negotiations, it resulted in an increase in costs of £348,865 from £499,430 to £848,295 per annum, for an overall reduced level of service. The initial cumulative prices from the tendering process had been £968,565 per annum.
- The increase in the prices for the same or lower level of local bus service is completely unaffordable and unsustainable within current budget allocations.
- The Cardi Bach service has been subject to a, relatively, modest cost increase and WG have agreed to cover this. They will only commit to a three-month (+ optional three month) contract arrangement at this time

- which will be the third time in a year CCC will have had to facilitate this on their behalf.
- Three of the services tendered were demand responsive and tenders were only received for two of these. The price increases for these was also significant.
- The services fulfilling learner travel needs are registered as local bus services affording a limited number of seats and travel opportunities for the general public which would include non-eligible learners who travel as fare paying passengers.
- The prices referred to are the tendered or negotiated contract prices. In addition to these the operators will retain the fare box income which includes concessionary fare reimbursement, BSSG mileage reimbursement and, until it ceases, BES payments.
- A request was also received during this time from Carmarthenshire County Council for the Authority to make additional contributions of £95,000 over and above the current £85,000 budgeted contribution to allow the 460 service to return to an hourly service (currently 2 hourly).

In summary, the outcome of the above was:

- 1. It was not possible to award the demand responsive service contracts T22, T27 and T29 due to insufficient budget and very low patronage
- 2. It was no possible to make the requested additional contributions to the 460 service due to insufficient budget
- 3. To award the negotiated arrangements for the 525, 526, 585 and T21 services noting that in doing so this still resulted in budget pressures of £104k in year 2022/23 and will result in budget pressures of £260k in 2023/24
- 4. To award the tendered Cardi Bach service contracts

The contracts awarded, other than the WG funded Cardi Bach service, have been let on a 6+6 month basis. This will allow the retention of statutory learner and some public transport provision while a wider review of the subsidised local bus network in Ceredigion is undertaken.

The press release available via the following links were published to advise stakeholders on the situation on the 02/12/2022 <u>Ceredigion County Council</u> and as an update the following press release <u>Ceredigion County Council</u> was issued on the 18/11/2022.

Appendix 5 - Risks

Financial

Providing transport services of any kind is likely to require significant additional funding moving forward, and this view is supported by the recent experience of contracts being handed back and/or the significant increase in prices received following subsequent procurement processes.

While there is no means of meeting these significant increases from the Council's current allocated budgets there is a statutory requirement to provide learner transport for those eligible to it.

Legal

A lack of providers on the sector means the Council may be unable, in the short term at least, to deliver statutory functions most notably in respect of learner travel.

Crudely reducing or removing any level of public transport services on the basis of cost could be challenged as being in breach of the *Transport Act 1985*, as well as other commitments and strategic aspirations, such as *Ceredigion County Council's Corporate Strategy*, and the *Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015*.

However, as the network has evolved with buses being provided on a commercial basis and supported directly or indirectly by WG, which would continue, the basis for any legal challenge is unclear as it would theoretically be possible to have a comprehensive bus network irrespective of what the Local Authority did either by virtue of services being operated commercially or subsidised by others, as is the case with the TrawsCymru network which is funded by the Welsh Government and is the most prominent and heavily used feature of the bus network in Ceredigion for local as well as longer distance travel by bus.

Local authority bus cuts; are legal duties being fulfilled? (bettertransport.org.uk)

Reputational

This is a risk to government at all levels as strategic ambitions are aspirational in seeking to mitigate the climate crisis, but there is an increasing divergence between the strategic and what is being delivered.

For example, if buses are seen as a means of mitigating climate change as set out in *Llwybr Newydd, The Wales Transport Strategy 2021*, then this is unlikely to

be achieved if opportunities to travel by bus are reduced, particularly where the car is the mode of travel of choice for many.

Economic

The transport industry provides a significant number of employment opportunities locally which extends from driving through to technical maintenance and to general administration and other management functions.

There is a lack of drivers and technicians nationally and the industry is struggling to attract new recruits into the sector and/or to train these.

With uncertainties around the future structure and financial support mechanism underpinning the bus industry there are questions around the viability of operators in the short, mid and longer term.

Many of the local companies are long standing family enterprises where succession could also be an issue.

Social

Bus networks, even in rural areas such as Ceredigion, do afford some level of travel opportunities and options, and they can be important to people, especially those who have limited other options and can support independent living for those who may not have access to a car including the young, old, disabled and vulnerable for day to day, occasional and ad-hoc travel for access to health services, shopping, leisure and social needs.



Minutes of the Special Meeting of the Thriving Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee held at the Council Chamber, Neuadd Cyngor Ceredigion, Penmorfa, Aberaeron and remotely on Tuesday, 21 March 2023

Present: Councillor Gwyn Wigley Evans (Chairman), Councillors Marc Davies (Vice-Chair), Gethin Davies, Meirion Davies, Rhodri Davies, Rhodri Evans, Chris James, Maldwyn Lewis, Ann Bowen Morgan, John Roberts and Carl Worrall.

Also in attendance: Councillors Euros Davies, Amanda Edwards, Elizabeth Evans, Eryl Evans, Keith Evans, Wyn Evans, Geraint Wyn Hughes, Gareth Lloyd and Ceris Jones.

Cabinet Members present: Councillor Keith Henson.

Officers in attendance: Eifion Evans, Chief Executive; Barry Rees, Corporate Director; James Starbuck, Corporate Director; Lowri Edwards, Corporate Lead Officer, Democratic Services; Rhodri Llwyd, Corporate Lead Officer, Highways and Environmental Services; Gerwyn Jones, Corporate Manager, Environmental Services; Beverley Hodgett, Service Manager- Local Environment Services; Simon Edwards, Waste Manager; Lisa Evans, Standards and Scrutiny Officer and Neris Morgans, Democratic Services Officer.

(1.30pm-3.52pm)

1 Apologies

Councillor Bryan Davies, Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Democratic Services, Policy, Performance and People and Organisation apologised for his inability to attend the meeting.

Disclosures of personal interest (including whipping declarations) Members are reminded of their personal responsibility to declare any personal and prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of the Local Government Act 2000, the Council's Constitution and the Members Code of Conduct. In addition, Members must declare any prohibited party whip which the Member has been given in relation to the meeting as per the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011.

There were no disclosures of Personal and Prejudicial Interests (including whipping declarations) from Committee Members.

3 Waste Collection Service

The Chair explained that the purpose of the meeting was to listen to the reasons why the disruption to the Waste Collection Service occurred in December 2022, and to try and find a way forward to resolve the issues impacting the service.

Eifion Evans, Chief Executive thanked the Chair and the Committee for their patience in allowing officers to focus on the budget before arranging today's meeting. It was acknowledged there had been a disruption to the service in December 2022, which created a sense of disagreement among the public. The Waste Collection Service provided an excellent service, and the staff

were praised for their willingness to continue to collect waste during the Covid-19 outbreak. Several factors contributed to the disruption in December 2022 and the context of what happened would be outlined in due course along with several options to try and resolve the issues, but it was important to note that staff were not at fault. Officers have been challenged consistently by elected members, who have been challenged by members of the public regarding the matter and several discussions have taken place between officers and political party leaders.

In terms of the Waste Collection Service, approximately 28 staff were employed at each of the 2 operational depots, and due to the nature of their contracts, a maximum of 4 members of staff would be allowed to be on leave at any one time, not taking staff sickness into account. As Bank and 'company' holidays (three fixed leave days between Christmas and New Year) were currently worked on a voluntary overtime basis, officers had been unable to adequately cover the service during these periods. Historically, there was greater resilience in the service but in the past decade, there had been a loss of £72 million of core funding from the Welsh Government (WG) and 750 jobs across Council services. When there were no issues, the service ran effectively and efficiently with a very high level of reliability, but the ability to respond to emergencies proved challenging. Senior Officers emphasised continually that unless an individual had the appropriate training, qualifications and experience, a member of staff could not undertake a role such as driving or loading a Refuse Collection Vehicle (RCV).

Barry Rees, Corporate Director explained that three separate episodes accounted for the disruption in December 2022:

- 1. The severe weather, where officers prioritised the gritting as opposed to the waste collection in order to ensure the health and safety of the public. At the same time, support was provided to Welsh Water to distribute water during the water outage, particularly in the south of the County.
- 2. Collections during Christmas/ New Year's were impacted due to the nature of contracts in place and 3 fixed leave days to which staff were entitled, resulting in staff shortage.
- 3. The third episode of disruption was again due to the impact of the severe weather.

Although it was possible to plan for poor weather, it was not possible to foresee when it would happen, as opposed to bank holidays. It was vital to remember that no one was in danger when the waste collection was disrupted, but the difficulties and the inconvenience to Ceredigion's residents were acknowledged.

Rhodri Llwyd, Corporate Lead Officer, Highways and Environmental Services outlined the following:

- Key Matters to Explore
 - Staffing Levels
 - Contractual Arrangements

- Waste Collection Budget
- Potential Outsourcing
- Fleet Maintenance
- Communication
- Household Waste Sites
- Clic Enquiries
- Work Currently in Progress
- Potential Future Options
 - Explore opportunities for digital solution
 - Review of operational staff contracts (9-12 months)
 - Review of alternative delivery options
 - Decrease resource and budgetary pressures on the service
 - Increase budget provision for waste collection

Rhodri Llwyd explained that some measures were already in place, and some would take longer to achieve, but incremental changes within could improve the service's provision. Staff sickness and emergencies such as extreme weather would remain, but hopefully, the measures proposed would on the whole create a more consistent and resilient service.

Members were provided with the opportunity to ask questions which were answered by officers in attendance. The main points raised were as follows:

- All staff had permanent contracts and could volunteer to work on weekends and bank holidays. Changing contracts would need to be considered corporately, would take up to 12 months and would need to follow a formal consultation process. A change in contracts such as a rolling shift pattern would allow managers greater flexibility to ensure there was adequate staffing during difficult periods.
- The collection of trade waste was a broad issue and businesses have received a letter to explain that they have a legal duty to deal with their waste correctly. At present, RCVs had cameras to track the routes and the collection of waste but further exploration and investment in technology would enable closer monitoring of trade waste, which would benefit other Council services too.
- In response to suggestions to cancel collections over the Christmas period, the service would prefer to avoid this as it would lead to problems in the following weeks. Since Covid-19, the volume of waste collected had increased by 10%-15% and the nature of the waste varied weekly and by route.
- Communication with the public was reviewed regularly and it was acknowledged that clearer communication related to collections and disruptions could be investigated. Details were available via Clic (Customer Service Centre) and the authority was the first in Wales to share detailed updates online. With the development of 'My Account', residents would be able to receive updates in a variety of ways.
- Staff were encouraged to undertake HGV licence courses continually.
 Some staff employed as loaders and who had the required training/ qualifications were able to step up when required to drive HGVs including RCVs. Due to legal compliance considerations and the technology

- involved, involving individuals who were unfamiliar with the work would be dangerous.
- WG's Blueprint for waste collection was deemed ineffective for rural areas and the previous administration had raised concerns that flexibility was required to provide a cost-efficient service to the county.
- The service had trialled an electric RCV and it had worked well but there
 were concerns should all vehicles use green energy given the inadequate
 grid capacity within the county. A combination of green hydrogen and
 electrical systems was deemed more suitable and needed to be
 considered by WG policymakers.
- The service was commended for their professionalism in ensuring the fleet was fit for purpose and complied with legislation, for the safety of the workforce and the public.
- When there was an adequate supply of staff, the service ran smoothly, but it proved challenging during emergencies hence the disruptions. To create more resilience by increasing capacity, further funding would be required.
- The provision of waste transfer stations at Penrhos was being considered corporately. In addition, discussions need to be undertaken with Household Waste Sites and private recycling sites to ask whether they would consider placing skips on sites to collect recycling bags.
- Collections brought forward to Saturday before a Bank Holiday Monday was favoured and would continue to be trialled.
- Waste was unloaded at Lampeter and Beulah following the procurement of new Transfer Station contracts.
- To impose restrictions on the number of black bags per household, a political decision would be required following consultation. This would hopefully encourage more recycling.

Eifion Evans thanked the Committee again for their patience in dealing with the matter. Several exciting and innovative ideas had been suggested and the aim was to provide a consistent service, which would be measured particularly during bank holidays and the Christmas period. Officers and elected members were praised for their maturity during discussions. There was a desire by all to solve the challenges acknowledged in the system.

Councillor Keith Henson, Cabinet Member noted that the service's good work was acknowledged nationally, as they were considered in the top 5 recyclers in Wales. The current fleet was working well, but investment was required to ensure the service ran efficiently. He expressed his thanks to the officers in attendance and the front-line staff for their work and hopefully with the introduction of 20mph speed limits, a safer working environment would be created.

The Chair stated that today's meeting had been beneficial and explained that the Committee would be happy to discuss further should the need arise. He suggested that staff were often aware of problems along with the solutions, therefore it was important to allow staff the opportunity to share their views.

Rhodri Llwyd also expressed his thanks to all present, and for the Committee's willingness to scrutinise in moving forward. From a staffing perspective, officers held 'toolbox talks' with staff regularly to discuss and share information and 'On the Job', an information leaflet was circulated to staff to update them on any corporate and health and safety developments.

Following questions by the Committee Members, it was agreed to note the response to the report and make appropriate recommendations to Cabinet if deemed necessary.

4 To confirm the Minutes of the previous Meeting and to consider any matters arising from those Minutes

It was agreed to confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 10 February 2023.

Matters arising: None.

Confirmed at the Meeting of the Thriving Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 5 April 2023

Chairman <u>:</u>	
Date:	



Agenda Item 6

Cyngor Sir CEREDIGION County Council

REPORT TO: Thriving Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee

DATE: 5 April 2023

LOCATION: Hybrid

TITLE: Draft Forward Work Programme 2023/24

PURPOSE OF REPORT: Review the current work programme of the Committee

REASON SCRUTINY HAVE

REQUESTED THE The forward work programme of the Committee is

INFORMATION: reviewed and updated at each meeting

BACKGROUND:

Overview and Scrutiny Committees oversee the work of the Council to make sure that it delivers services in the best way and for the benefit of the local community.

The role of Overview and Scrutiny is to look at the services and issues that affect people in Ceredigion. The process provides the opportunity for Councillors to examine the various functions of the council, to ask questions on how decisions have been made, to consider whether service improvements can be put in place and to make recommendations to this effect.

Scrutiny plays an essential role in promoting accountability, efficiency and effectiveness in the Council's decision making process and the way in which it delivers services.

The main roles of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees:

- Holding the cabinet and officers as decision-makers to account
- Being a 'critical friend', through questioning how decisions have been made to provide a 'check and balance' to decision makers, adding legitimacy to the decision making process
- Undertaking reviews of council services and policy
- Undertaking reviews to develop council services and policies
- Considering any other matter that affects the county
- Ensuring that Ceredigion is performing to the best of its ability and delivering high quality services to its citizens
- Assessing the impact of the Council's policies on local communities and recommending improvement
- Engaging with the public to develop citizen centred policies and services

Effective Overview and Scrutiny can lead to:

- Better decision making
- Improved Service Delivery and Performance
- Robust Policy Development arising from public consultation and input of independent expertise
- Enhanced Democracy, Inclusiveness, Community Leadership and Engagement
- Adds a clear dimension of transparency and accountability to the political workings of the Council
- Provides an opportunity for all Members to develop specialist skills and knowledge that can benefit future policy making and performance monitoring processes
- Creates a culture of evidence based self-challenge

CURRENT SITUATION:

Questions to consider when choosing topics

- Is there a clear objective for examining this topic?
- Are you likely to achieve a desired outcome?
- What are the likely benefits to the Council and the citizens of Ceredigion?
- Is the issue significant?
- Are there links to the Corporate Strategy
- Is it a key issue to the public?
- Have the issues been raised by external audit?
- Is it a poor performing service?

Choosing topics

Overview and Scrutiny Committees should consider information from the Corporate Strategy, Improvement Plan, Strategic Plan, Service Plans, the Corporate Risk Register, budget savings – proposals and impact, Quarterly Corporate Performance Management panel meetings and departmental input in choosing topics and designing their Forward Work Programmes, as well as any continuing work.

RECOMMENDATION (S):

To review and update the current Forward Work Programme.

Contact Name: Lisa Evans

Designation: Scrutiny and Standards Officer

Date of Report: 30/03/2023

Acronyms: FWP – Forward Work Programme

Overview and Scrutiny Draft Forward Work Programme 2023/24

Committee	Item (description/title)	Invited Speakers	Purpose i.e. monitoring, policy, recommendation
Thriving Communities			
22 June 2023	Climate Change and Coastal Erosion / Flooding (from the risk register) Review Harbours Management Policy Development Management and Enforcement caseload update	Invite NRW	
31 July 2023	Report on the option of allowing 2 hours free parking before 11am (from the budget meeting) Winter Service		
23 October 2023			

18 December 2023		
23 February 2024	Budget	
18 March 2024		
Future meetings	Suggestions: Impact of grant funded schemes – what's the impact, how well drawing down funds Use of space – how do we make it more vibrant, increase income LDP Review of public toilet strategy	